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Senate Counsel

Fact-Finding Report 

of the 

Judicial Merit Selection Commission 
from the 
February 19, 2009, Hearing Regarding 

Judge Kenneth Goode’s 
Candidacy for Re-election as 
Judge of the Circuit Court, 

At-Large, Seat 8

Dated: February 27, 2009

The Judicial Merit Selection Commission convened at 1 p.m.  February 19, 2009, and conducted an eight-hour hearing for the purpose of hearing facts related to Judge Kenneth Goode’s candidacy for re-election as Judge of the Circuit Court.  
Members of the Judicial Merit Selection Commission present were as follows: Chairman Glenn McConnell, Vice-Chairman Greg Delleney, Senator Robert Ford, Senator Jake Knotts, Rep. Alan Clemmons, Rep. David Mack, Professor John Freeman, Ms. Amy McLester, Mr. John Harrell, and Mr. Don Sellers, as well as Staff Counsel Jane Shuler.

At the outset, Chairman McConnell explained the jurisdiction of the Commission as well as the parameters of the hearing. Members of the Commission unanimously agreed with the understanding that this was solely a fact-finding hearing.

Jurisdiction of the Commission for the Hearing
Specifically, on February 11, 2009, the General Assembly met in Joint Assembly in accordance with the terms of the Concurrent Resolution adopted by both Houses to elect certain judges, including a judge of the Circuit Court, At-Large, Seat 8, Judge Kenneth G. Goode. 
At the Joint Assembly and upon his motion, Sen. McConnell published the following letter received from Judge Goode to the members as follows:

“State of South Carolina

The Circuit Court of the Sixth Judicial Circuit

Kenneth G. Goode, Judge

February 11, 2009

The Honorable Glenn McConnell

Chairman, Judicial Selection Committee

RE:
Candidacy for Reelection to Judgeship 

Dear Senator McConnell:


I have read with concern the article in today’s State newspaper concerning my candidacy for reelection. I understand the nature of the allegations which have been made. I further understand the allegations against me have arisen since the time of my judicial screening.


While I believe my decisions have been sound and appropriate in the cases reported on by the newspaper, I am also convinced it is totally unfair to the Legislature for me to ask to be voted upon with the allegations pending and with the allegations not having been fully reviewed by the screening committee.


As you are aware, judicial ethics prevent me from publicly responding to the allegations reported in the newspaper. I find myself in a situation where I cannot do anything to refute the allegations and where the Legislature is being asked to vote upon my candidacy in the face of allegations which have not been considered by the screening panel.


It is important to me that all of the facts be known before I am voted upon. I am convinced when the facts are reviewed my conduct will be found to have been appropriate in all of the cases reported upon in the newspaper.


The integrity of the judicial system demands that I not be voted upon at this time. The issues raised in my opinion go to the integrity of the process and are much greater than the issue of my personal candidacy.


In order that this matter be resolved in fairness to all concerned and in fairness to the Legislature, I ask that my candidacy be carried over and be resubmitted to the Judicial Screening Committee for full review. I look forward to this process to prove to the citizens of this great state that my judicial qualifications are beyond reproach.


I thank you and the members of the General Assembly for considering this request. I am available at the State House today should anyone have any questions for me or if I can provide any assistance whatsoever.

Yours very truly,

Kenneth G. Goode”

Senator Mike Fair then made a motion to the members of the Joint Assembly that the election to fill the position of Judge, Circuit Court, At-Large, Seat 8, be carried over and that the candidacy of Judge Goode be referred to the Judicial Merit Selection Commission. His motion was subsequently adopted by the members of the General Assembly. (House Journal, February 11, 2009, pp. 22-23).

Therefore, Senator McConnell explained that at the February 19, 2009, hearing the Commission would hear facts regarding matters in response to the motion passed by the Joint Assembly.  Specifically, that motion directed the Commission to hear matters solely on the cases reported in The State newspaper on February 10-11, 2009, that is, the State v. Talisha Lavette Smith and State v. Zail Ray Gavin.
 Thus, the purpose of this hearing was to gather the facts related to Judge Goode’s handling of these matters and submit a fact-finding report to the members of the General Assembly for consideration. Senator McConnell further noted that the hearing was not convened for the purpose of finding Judge Goode “qualified” or “unqualified.”

The articles referenced in The State were as follows:

Title: “Exclusive: Senate president to vote against judge”

Summary: Senator McConnell confirmed on February 10, 2009, that he will vote against the re-election of Judge Goode due to his pattern of “abuse of discretion.” Specific concerns were raised regarding Judge Goode’s handling of the Richland County child abuse case where he gave no prison time to Talisha Smith. Also, specific concerns were raised over the State v. Gavin case where there were Peeping Tom and indecent exposure charges in Richland and Lexington counties. Gavin had prior Peeping Tom and indecent exposure convictions and he had violated probation; however, he was sentenced by Goode to no more than six months in prison. Senator Fair agreed with Senator McConnell’s sentiments and introduced a bill January 29, 2009, requiring mandatory prison sentences of two years for child care providers convicted of seriously harming children.

Title: “The Fallout”
Summary: On December 8, 2009, Judge Goode gave a woman no jail time after she admitted injuring an infant at a day care center. Since then, the 5th Circuit Solicitor’s Office has asked Judge Goode to reconsider his ruling; Judge Goode had not responded as of February 11, 2009. Senator Fair’s bill that would require mandatory prison sentences of two years for child care providers convicted of seriously harming children would also require a minimum of two hours training yearly for home day operators. (Transcript of Public Fact Finding Hearing on February 19, 2009, pp.3-10) heretofore referenced as Transcript).
Report of the Facts based on the Testimony Presented and Exhibits Entered into the Record
Opening statement—Judge Goode 
Judge Goode opened thanking the Commission for allowing him to provide additional information as it seems necessary and appropriate on the two cases that were previously handled by him.  He explained that he grew up in a family of modest means in Fairfield County and worked his way through Furman as well as U.S.C School of Law. Judge Goode stated that he practiced in his hometown of Winnsboro for 20 years and was elected to the Circuit Court bench in 1999. He explained that he is proud to be a public servant and attempts to do his job with diligence. He noted that he has issued thousands of rulings in both civil and criminal cases as well as imposed thousands of sentences on criminal defendants. (Transcript, pp. 12-13).
With respect to the Smith case, Judge Goode stated that it has always been his intention to reconsider the sentence in that case, which was evidenced by an order he signed just one to two days after the sentence was issued. He explained that he has not been assigned to Richland County since that week and had not heard it.  He stated, “I have read the transcript in that case, and based on the transcript, I believe the sentence needs to be reconsidered.” (Transcript, p.13).

Judge Goode reported that he had scheduled a hearing on the reconsideration motion for this week, but he continued that hearing to a later date, as to rule at this time would call into question the ultimate disposition.  He did not want the integrity of the final sentence he pronounces to be tainted by the appearance that it was motivated by inappropriate considerations. (Transcript, p.14).

He stated that he tries to treat everyone who appears before him in the same manner as he would want his family members and himself treated. He stated that he keeps on the back of his placard on the bench the inscription, “courtesy, timeliness, and fairness,” as a reminder of how to treat people who appear before him. (Transcript, p.15).

Judge Goode explained his general philosophy when he sentences a defendant who has pled guilty; that is, he considers the following elements in making his sentencing determination: rehabilitation, deterrence, and punishment and he formulates a combination of those to determine a just sentence. When sentencing a defendant who has caused bodily harm to a victim, he noted that he gives weight to the victim’s medical records, because it’s the professional opinion on the condition of the victim after the crime. When imposing a sentence, Judge Goode stated that within his judicial discretion, he will listen to the solicitor, the victims, and the defendants. He noted that he will give great weight to a professional’s opinion about the injuries, when available. (Transcript, pp.15-17).

State v. Talisha Smith 

The Transcript of Record reflected that Judge Goode presided over the December 8, 2008, Guilty Plea and Sentencing Hearing of Talisha Lavette Smith.  Ms. Smith pled guilty to Section 16-3-95,  “Great Bodily Injury to a Child,
” a crime that carries a maximum sentence of 20 years and is considered a violent offense, which requires registry with the DSS Child Abuse and Neglect Registry.  Judge Goode sentenced Ms. Smith to 10 years suspended to 5 years probation with any mental health counseling recommended and that she be placed on the DSS Child Abuse and Neglect Registry. (Exhibit 1, p. 30; Transcript, p.19).

Judge Goode’s Initial Testimony
Judge Goode initially testified that he signed an order to reconsider Ms. Smith’s sentence within one or two days after sentencing and that he has not heard that matter yet. He noted that he believed it was an appropriate case for reconsideration. He stated, “I have read the transcript. I think it is--and I have signed an order that I will resentence in that case, and I feel that it is an appropriate case for resentencing.” (Transcript, p.18, p. 20, 33).

He further testified that, to his recollection, admission notes from an emergency care facility related to the victim’s injuries and some photographs were put forward. Judge Goode reported that no admissible evidence was offered concerning the permanency of the injuries suffered by the victim. He explained that another solicitor initially handled this case but she was on maternity leave. He reported that the plea proceedings took about 30 minutes. (Transcript, pp.22- 24).

As for the comment he made which upset Patrick and Michelle Gaddie, the victim’s parents, regarding Sgt. Patrick Gaddie’s army attire, Judge Goode noted that he was trying to compliment the Sergeant, and his comment somehow got twisted. At the hearing, he turned and apologized to the Sergeant and explained that he was trying to compliment him on defending our country. (Transcript, pp.23- 24, 36).

According to Judge Goode, it was not unusual with a serious injury for there to be expert medical testimony and evidence. He stated that it was unusual for the State not to have an expert in a serious case. He further testified that he has been reading the rules on reconsideration and there is a conflict on whether he can receive additional evidence, unless under extraordinary circumstances. He explained that Court Administration will allow him to hear the matter in Richland County. (Transcript, pp. 26-27, 29).

Judge Goode stated that there was no plea recommendation by the solicitor, and this case was pre-tried in chambers. He testified that while there was not testimony from law enforcement and no medical records presented, the solicitor asked for substantial jail time.  Judge Goode also testified that he had no recollection of the pretrial conversations, except as to the solicitor stating a particular range she thought appropriate.  He stated that the solicitor’s office set this matter for a plea hearing, as the solicitor controls the docket in Richland County. (Transcript, pp.31- 35).

Patrick Gaddie’s Testimony (Victim’s Father)
Sgt. Patrick Gaddie offered his testimony and submitted an Affidavit of Complaint regarding Judge Goode’s comments and the lenient sentence imposed at the Smith sentencing hearing. Sgt. Gaddie testified concerning a report in the past two days from a speech language pathologist who is working with Kendra, and that she stated in her report that Kendra’s speech is progressing at a much slower rate, she continues to wear a bib now due to drooling, and it continues to be a present problem due to her traumatic brain injury she received in March. He noted that this was a life-changing injury for his daughter. (Exhibit 3; Transcript, pp. 36- 39).

He explained that the Investigator Richard Carter with the Richland County Sheriff’s Department investigated this case. Sgt. Gaddie stated that he initially worked and met regularly with Solicitor Anna Good and she had a packet of medical records related to Kendra. Sgt. Gaddie further stated that his wife and he insisted on no plea and felt it was a strong case for the jury. (Transcript, pp. 40- 45).

According to Sgt. Gaddie, information was passed to Judge Goode, but he was not sure if it was the packet of medical information. He reported that before the guilty plea started, he saw the Solicitor, defendant’s attorney, and Judge Goode go back in chambers. Sgt. Gaddie testified that his wife spoke eloquently about Kendra’s injuries at the plea hearing but he did not speak. He explained that there were no other witnesses there, as they did not think they needed them, since the defendant was pleading guilty. He noted that he thought the evidence presented by the Solicitor Fent, whom they worked with for a few weeks, was enough. Sgt. Gaddie explained that it was his  interpretation at the sentencing hearing that Judge Goode was more worried about the guilty, Ms. Smith, than the Gaddie family. He stated that they thought they were there at the sentencing hearing to punish Ms. Smith for what she did to his daughter. He also noted that Judge Goode commented, “some wrongs cannot be made right.” (Transcript, pp. 45- 51).

The Transcript of Record reflects with respect to that comment, Judge Goode stated:

“We have a, a morose sharing of issues here: you lost a newborn child, I lost a newborn child, and of course the victim of this tragic, tragic situation. The government of the United States through the Constitution has put on my shoulders to do what is legal and what is right, and that's, that's an easy thing to do sometimes. Sometimes it's anything but easy. Part of my job is to --excuse me. Sometimes your mind take you places that you don't like to go, and I know you know this as well or better than me. But there are some wrongs that simply can't be righted.”  (Exhibit 1, p. 28).

Michelle Gaddie’s Testimony (Victim’s Mother)
Ms. Gaddie, who offered an Affidavit of Complaint against Judge Goode’s handling of Ms. Smith’s sentence, first described the background of her daughter’s case at the public hearing, stating that the injury occurred on March 19, 2008 at the home of Talisha Smith who ran a day care for children in her home. She noted that Ms. Smith pled guilty to the charge of “Great Bodily Injury Upon a Child” on December 8, 2008, which is a felony abuse charge caring a maximum sentence of 20 years. (Exhibit 4, Transcript, pp. 52-55).

According to Ms. Gaddie, at the very beginning of the hearing, Judge Goode appeared to lose his train of thought at which times, he would bring his hand to his head. She noted that she spoke at length at the sentencing hearing about the extent of Kendra’s injury.  Ms. Gaddie testified that she felt Judge Goode took a great interest in Ms. Smith’s anxiety and how sentencing would hurt her children. She also stated that the arresting officer Carter was present at the hearing, but Judge Goode only wanted to hear from her husband and her. (Transcript, pp. 55-57).

She explained that the solicitor informed her it was not necessary for Officer Carter to testify due to the fact Ms. Smith was pleading guilty and due to the severity of the crime. Ms. Gaddie reported that she read a very lengthy Victims’ Impact Statement at the sentencing hearing. She stated that she does not recall Judge Goode stating, “Be happy to hear from the family or police officers,” as reflected on line 23, p. 15 of the Transcript. Ms. Gaddie testified that she saw Judge Goode flipping through the photos of her child taken when she was in ICU showing great bodily injury.  She indicated she was satisfied with the performance of the Solicitor at the hearing and noted that she offered photographs of her daughter’s injuries for the record; two of which show the handprints on the right side of her daughter’s face. (Transcript, pp. 57-66).

Ms. Gaddie stated that in the beginning Ms. Smith had two charges, the other charge concerning being within the radius of a day care center, which carried 10 years and was dropped (nolle prossed) in return for her guilty plea. She testified that Judge Goode was more concerned with Ms. Smith’s state of mind, and having the other charge would have not made any difference. Ms. Gaddie further testified that the solicitor informed her that they had a strong case, but she was concerned about the Gaddies’ mental state and moving on from this. She stated that she does not recall the solicitor saying to Judge Goode that they would not be happy with probation. (Transcript, pp. 66-74).
Ms. Gaddie testified that she actually showed the solicitor a copy of her victim’s impact statement which clearly indicated she was looking for the maximum sentence allowed by law to send a message that these types of crime were not going to be tolerated in our society by day care operators which she also stated on the record at the plea hearing. (Transcript, p. 72).

Ms. Gaddie reported that she testified at the Smith Sentencing Hearing to the following as it concerns the extent of Kendra’s injuries, which no one challenged in court:

“It was like a cry you would hear from a wounded animal. Immediately I felt panic, as this was not a sound I had heard her utter before. That sound haunts me to this day.” (Exhibit 1, p.19). 

“It was heartbreaking to watch her suffer so much. She could not hold down formula, and she vomited frequently, requiring the formula to be diluted and given in sparing amounts over time. She had countless IVs started because her tiny veins were still too fragile and new to old -- hold a line open for any extended period of time. Countless needle sticks and tests were run. A plasma transfusion was necessary to stop the bleeding in her brain.” (Exhibit 1, pp. 20-21).
“She could not hold down full strength formula for one full week after discharge, and it was another two weeks before she could hold down solid food without vomiting.” (Exhibit 1, p. 21).

“I saw an immediate change in her personality. It's like I have a different child. Kendra used to be constantly smiling and babbling. In the months that have followed, she no longer smiles and no longer babbles.  Instead, she has episodes of screaming where she is inconsolable, and, to this day, wakes up in the middle of the night screaming at the top of her lungs.” (Exhibit 1, p. 21).

“Kendra requires therapists and specialists to work with her, and we have yet to hear the words mommy or daddy. She is being taught sign language to help her communicate, and she can sign the words more and food.” (Exhibit 1, pp. 21-22).

“I can see the look of frustration on her face when she attempts to speak, but all she can muster is a scream.” (Exhibit 1, p. 22)
(Transcript, pp. 74-78).
She testified that no one challenged her statements above in court that her child needed therapists and specialists to work with her, as well as the damage to her child. (Transcript, pp. 79-81).

Ms. Gaddie also clarified that the Solicitor’s office filed the Motion to Resentence on December 10, and that her husband and she made weekly phone calls to the Solicitor’s office to check the status of the motion from Judge Goode, and it was not until this past Thursday [February 12, 2009] at 3:55 p.m. that she got a response that it was rescheduled. (Transcript, pp. 82-84).

Margaret Fent’s Testimony (Solicitor Who Prosecuted the Smith Case)
Ms. Fent testified that she was the Solicitor in the Smith case who handled the guilty plea, and it was already scheduled by the solicitor, who was out on maternity leave. She stated that at the guilty plea, as it is the regular practice to make a factual proffer, she summarized the injuries that were in the medical records provided by the hospital. (Transcript, pp. 86-87).

The Transcript of Record reflects that she offered the following factual proffer: 

MS. FENT: Thank you, Your Honor. This occurred back on March 19th of this year. The victim in this case was approximately six and a half months at the time; the defendant was twenty-five years old at the time. The defendant was running a daycare out of her home, Helping Hand Daycare. This was at 194 Fox Grove Circle here in Richland County. It was, as I said, at the defendant's home. She at that -- on this particular day had four kids in her home. She had, I believe, her own child. She had the victim, who was six and a half month's old. She had the victim's brother, and she had another young child in the home. The children were dropped off early morning that morning. The victim's parents came back around 5:00 in the evening to pick up their children. They were met basically at the door with the defendant holding Kendra, the six and a half month old child, and saying that there had been an accident. And the child was kind of crying and a little lethargic. The parents took Kendra and immediately noticed that there was a bruise to the left side of the child's face. The defendant didn't indicate, you know, other than that the child had hit its head on a chair in the home. Had been sitting in a circle with the other children at circle time and had hit its head on a chair. The parents took the child, the six and a half month old, with them. By the time they got home, they took a better look at the bruise on the face, and it started out looking like a hand print already at that point. So, they immediately took their daughter to the hospital, took the daughter to Providence where they did a CAT scan on the infant, and it showed a subdural hematoma: that the child had bleeding on the brain. The child was then transferred to Richland Memorial to the Children's Hospital and put into pediatric ICU where the child stayed in the hospital for approximately five days. The doctors do say that the bruise was a noticeable hand print. The defendant maintained still that it was this accident throughout the beginning of the investigation. She -- the victim's father had called the defendant in basically a controlled phone call, a taped phone call to try to find out what happened. Our child is in ICU. She has bleeding on the brain. You know, please just tell us what happened and she said, you know, it was an accident. Hit her head on the side of a chair. Subsequently the investigator, Richard Carter with Richland County Sheriff's Department who's standing here with me, brought in the defendant and she gave two 2 statements. The initial statement stuck with this, the child hit its head on the side of a chair. And then when confronted that the doctors would say this was consistent with a blow or an assault by a hand to the face, she then admitted that she struck Kendra with her hand, that she slapped the six and a half year old on the left side of her face. The doctors basically indicated that it took significant force, enough to cause bleeding. The blow was to the left side of the head. Would thus cause the brain to go over and hit the right side of the head, that the breeding -- bleeding was on the right side of the head, and that the bruise was consistent with a -- the shape of a hand. The doctors indicated that just two more pounds of pressure and Kendra would not have survived the, the forceful blow. DSS did an investigation, and they did also indicate for physical abuse against the defendant. The results of this injury are ongoing. The child is now approximately fifteen months old. She has significant developmental, severe developmental delays, what the 22 doctors say, and a severe communication deficit. She still is not able to talk; she's not forming any words. They're -- the parents have her currently involved in a state-run program to work on these developmental delays and hopefully to eventually get her up to the milestones that she's supposed to be meeting, that she was appropriately meeting prior to this injury. And is still too young to assess any behavioral effects this may have on young Kendra. Defendant has no prior convictions. Kendra's parents are here in the courtroom, Sergeant Patrick Gaddie and Michelle Gaddie, and at the appropriate time they would like to address the court. That's the extent of the facts, Your Honor. (Exhibit 1, pp. 12-15). 

She further testified that she never received a signed Order of rehearing from Judge Goode in response to her Request for Resentence. Ms. Fent stated that she first learned that it was set for rehearing when she was contacted on Thursday afternoon [February 12, 2009] by Judge Goode’s law clerk stating that he wanted to schedule it as quickly as possible. She noted that the experts could not report on the child’s behavior and extent of damage except to wait and see how she develops. (Transcript, pp. 87-90).

Ms. Fent stated that it is typical practice in a guilty plea to make a factual proffer and not to call an expert witness. She noted that her general practice is to make sure that the investigator is standing next to her and give them an opportunity to speak, just as she does the victims.  (Transcript, pp. 90-96). 

She further explained that the defendant pled guilty, and the truth of Ms. Gaddie’s Victim Impact Statement offered at the Sentencing hearing was never challenged.  Ms. Fent stated that this is the procedure at sentencing hearings. She stated that she was asking Judge Goode for a substantial sentence and stated by a cold reading of the Transcript, you cannot read her tone of voice. (Transcript, pp. pp. 100-102, 105-106)
As for the Motion for Resentence, Ms. Fent testified that she submitted that Motion to Judge Goode, and it was the first time she has ever filed this type of Motion. Ms. Fent stated that she has never received the Order Judge Goode indicated he made on his decision to reconsider. She noted that she did not attach an Order for the Judge to sign, and there was no place for him to sign on her Motion granting it.  Ms. Fent stated that on Thursday afternoon [February 12], she received a phone call from the Judge’s law clerk stating the judge wanted to schedule a rehearing.  
According to Ms. Fent, she stated to Judge Goode at the sentencing hearing as reflected in Exhibit 1, p.22,

“I humbly ask the court to allow a clear message to be sent: crimes against our children in this society will no longer be condoned or tolerated.  I ask that the maximum sentence allowed by current law be instituted.”  (Transcript, p. 113).

She noted that the facts were not contested that the victim suffered great bodily harm. (Transcript, p. 114).

Jerry Finney’s Testimony (Attorney for Defendant, Ms. Talisha Smith)

Mr. Finney testified that he is a criminal defense attorney in Columbia and was retained to represent Ms. Smith on charges stemming back to March 2008 and also submitted an Affidavit regarding this matter. (Exhibit 5; Transcript, p. 115). He stated that Ms. Smith pled to a negotiated plea with respect to one of the charges, the proximity charge, which was nolle prossed by the solicitor in exchange for the plea to the great bodily harm charge. Mr. Finney testified that no medical evidence was presented at the sentencing hearing. According to Mr. Finney, he heard Judge Goode make comments about the war and the military, but he did not perceive those comments to be offensive. (Transcript, pp. 116-117).

He testified that he received a Motion to Reconsider Sentence from Solicitor Fent on December 10, 2008, and provided the faxed copy that contains the notation at the top, “Dec. 10, 2008 02:16 PM.” (Exhibit 6; Transcript, pp. 118-119).  Mr. Finney testified that the motion did not contain any notation from Judge Goode granting it. Mr. Finney stated that he learned last Thursday [February 12] in the afternoon of the Motion for Resentence actually being set for hearing. 

During his testimony, he also showed the Commission members his [thick] file of medicals he received from the Solicitor’s office on Kendra after requesting their evidence, the medicals which were not made a part of the sentencing record by the solicitor.  Mr. Finney stated that after a review of the evidence this case, his advice to his client was to plead guilty. (Transcript, pp. 120-121).
The Transcript of Record reflects the following statements by Mr. Finney on behalf of his client at the sentencing hearing:
“MR. FINNEY: May it please the Court? Your Honor, Your Honor, Ms. Smith stands before this court with no criminal record, married, mother, daughter. Your Honor, this episode out of her life certainly could be looked upon as completely contrary to how she has lived her life. But, Your Honor, she stands before you because of this episode and because of that, as her lawyer I would first like to tell the victims, the families, the other children that they have, all of their families and friends that are connected with the victims how much I and my heart breaks for them because of this situation. Your Honor, Ms. Gaddie recited to the court how unless you go through the loss and death of a child, you cannot understand, and I would agree with her wholehearted. Your Honor, my wife and I have buried our firstborn child; we attended her funeral. Her name was Lenora, and I saw the devastation that the loss of our child caused on my wife and our marriage and our family. I do understand that personally and because of that, again I would like to extend to them how much my heart breaks to them because of this terrible situation.  Your Honor, my client doesn't stand before you pleading under North Carolina vs. Alford. She doesn't stand before you pleading no contest. She pleads guilty. Your Honor, before she hired a lawyer, she admitted to what she had done. Your Honor, this is a sad situation for everyone, and there will be no excuse that I will give for her conduct. She has pled guilty to it, and we simply ask your mercy in sentencing.  Your Honor, I will submit to the court, and I would ask that the clerk of court help me with this, is a letter from Palmetto Counseling dated December the 8th that shows that my client at the time that this occurred was suffering from a diagnosable condition. Your Honor ---How pregnant were you? How far along were you?
DEFENDANT: About five or six, five. MR. FINNEY: Five or six months pregnant at the time. She has since had that child. DSS has vigorously investigated her. I believe that case may even remain open. Your Honor, in asking you for mercy --- And also, Your Honor, it has come to my attention that I think that there may at least be a civil claim. I think I have been notified by Nationwide Insurance, I believe it is, yes, sir, of a civil claim.
THE COURT: This would be a subrogation claim?
MR. FINNEY: Yes, sir, Your Honor. Your Honor, in standing here and asking you for mercy, I know very well that because of this situation, that no one stands to gain in this situation. Certainly to incarcerate Ms. Smith, Your Honor, would certainly punish her. It will also punish her children, her husband. The victims certainly, certainly have been punished. Not just the child but the mother, the father, and their family. There's really nothing to be gained, Your Honor. I would respectfully submit to the court that Ms. Smith is a candidate, an excellent candidate for probation. And the fact that you may hang a jail sentence over her and should she depart from any condition, special condition of probation that Your Honor sees fit to give her, she would understand that immediately she would go to jail. Your Honor, she is in counseling voluntary, and if Your Honor saw fit, we would respectfully ask that Your Honor set any special condition attached with probation that Your Honor may deem appropriate. Again, Your Honor, I would conclude my remarks with saying how my heart breaks for the family during this terrible situation. I also pray that their daughter recovers.” (Exhibit 1, pp. 25-26).
Paul Newell (Law Clerk to Judge Goode)

Mr. Newell testified that he has been a law clerk since mid-August for Judge Goode. He stated to his recollection, Judge Goode and he were on the bench preparing for court two days later [after the plea hearing] when Ms. Fent brought a document regarding a reconsideration hearing. Mr. Newell noted that the judge and Ms. Fent went into some discussion and that it was then his understanding or assumption the motion was granted to be heard when they next were in Richland County. (Transcript, pp. 122-123, 127). He testified that the Judge told him that day it was granted, but did not ask him to draw an order, although it is not customary to draw an order for all motions. (Transcript, p. 128).
He stated that he has never seen the Order granting Ms. Fent’s request nor did he prepare any Order. Mr. Newell reported that he was surprised to hear Ms. Fent’s testimony that she had no recollection of Judge Goode granting the Motion. (Transcript, p.124).
Mr. Newell noted that Judge Goode asked him on February 12 to call Ms. Fent to set the hearing, although it was his general understanding, based on the court process, that it would be heard during the Judge’s next term in Richland County. He explained that it was a special time on February 12 to hear the Motion for reconsideration, since it was during the Judge’s Chambers’ week. Mr. Newell specifically testified that on December 10, he learned for the first time that Judge Goode decided to reconsider his Sentencing Order and convene a hearing on Ms. Fent’s motion. (Transcript, pp. 127-132).
Judge Goode’s Rebuttal

He testified that he had a clear recollection of Ms. Fent approaching the bench when no business was going on. Judge Goode stated that she informed him, “This is a Motion to Reconsider in the Smith/Gaddie case,” and she reached over the bar and put it directly in front of him stating, “Will you hear it?” Judge Goode stated that he responded “sure,” since he has never refused a request to rehear a sentence. He testified that he initially thought he signed an Order, but upon reflection, he is not sure if he signed it. (Transcript, p. 133).
Judge Goode explained that he has read the transcript now, and this is an appropriate case for review of the sentence. Further, he stated that when he has a difficult case, he puts his head in his hands or goes backwards in his chair; those are his mannerisms; (Transcript, pp. 133-134) that he always attempts to fix things within his discretion with respect to sentencing, but no fix came to mind in the Smith case. 
Judge Goode stated that he visits from six to ten counties per year as a judge. (Transcript, p.136). He noted that in guilty plea sentences he cannot call witnesses, but he questions the witnesses called before him. He also noted after seeing the file of Jerry Finney, he thought more information could have been provided by the prosecutor. Judge Goode stated that, despite the eloquent statement from Ms. Gaddie, it would have been helpful to have Kendra’s medical records. (Transcript, pp. 139-142, p. 154). 

According to Judge Goode, he instructed his law clerk on February 12 to call the parties so he could have this matter resolved before today’s hearing, but upon reflection, realized that there might be an appearance of impropriety on his part by trying to influence the screening committee. (Transcript, p. 145). He acknowledged that he received an e-mail from Jane Shuler on February 12 sending the Transcript of the Hearing (Exhibit, 7; Transcript, pp. 146-149).
Judge Goode further noted that he has never had a formal motion to reconsider his sentence before. He explained that such prior matters usually ended up in his office in informal discussion, so this was his first motion of this kind. (Transcript, pp. 143-145). Judge Goode testified that there was a confluence of events on Thursday, February 12, which lead him to ill-advisedly schedule a rehearing on the sentence. (Transcript, p. 149).
He testified that he had sua sponte a motion to reconsider at least a dozen times including this case. Judge Goode noted that the other way to consider matters is for the parties to approach him in chambers, and that has occurred in excess of 25 times. (Transcript, pp. 155-156). At the time of sentencing, Judge Goode stated that Ms. Fent did not indicate that she was unhappy with his sentence or request then a Motion for Resentence. (Transcript, pp. 157-158).
He testified that upon reflection he is not certain he signed an Order to rehear this matter (Transcript, pp. 159-160), but that “no ifs, ands or maybe sos, as we say my way, that it was definitely presented to me, and – and I informed her that I would reconsider the sentence. And I‘m prepared to do that.” (Transcript, p. 161).  Judge Goode stated, “I can’t say with absolute and complete confidence whether I signed it or I didn’t sign it. I can say without hesitation—or equivocation that she was informed that day that I would reconsider sentence.” (Transcript, p. 161). Judge Good admitted that he does not have an independent recollection of whether the prevailing party, the Clerk, Ms. Fent, and his clerk has the Order, noting that he would virtually never have it, as he would return the Order to the Solicitor to file with the Clerk. (Transcript, p. 162).

According to Judge Goode, he told Ms. Fent he would reconsider the sentence, which could mean the same sentence or a review. (Transcript, pp. 165-166).  He explained that he meant he would listen to argument from counsel from both sides, and if appropriate, receive evidence from both sides and then will resentence, anywhere from 20 years to zero. (Transcript, pp. 165-166). He testified “the record is clear that I have agreed to resentence in this case.” (Transcript, p. 167). Judge Goode stated that it would have been unusual to have a line at the bottom of the motion for him to sign, unless consented to by Mr. Finney. (Transcript, p. 170). He agreed that he granted a motion from the Solicitor’s office for a rehearing verbally. (Transcript, p. 171). 

Judge Goode reported that he does not have a recollection of whether or not there was a representation of a discussion with Mr. Finney. He noted that he does not typically sign an ex parte order. (Transcript, p. 173). According to Judge Goode, he can not testify as a fact that Mr. Finney had any idea the solicitor was seeking reconsideration when she walked in and put the motion in front of him. (Transcript, p. 174).

Mr. Finney’s Rebuttal

 Mr. Finney testified that Ms. Fent did not contact him to verbally inform him that she was going to ask Judge Goode to reconsider the sentence, but she communicated that fact to him by faxing the Motion to his office. (Transcript, pp. 175-176). He noted that from December 10 until February 12 is a short window of time to schedule any motion, particularly in Columbia. (Transcript, p. 177). Other than hearing that this motion was scheduled for Monday, Mr. Finney testified he has not heard anything other than that on the motion. (Transcript, pp. 179-180). Mr. Finney testified, “And it my understanding was that by scheduling the hearing and not being in receipt of a written order that that meant to me he had granted at least a motion to rehearing.” (Transcript, p. 183).

Ms. Fent’s Rebuttal

Ms. Fent testified that she served a copy of the Motion for Resentence on Judge Goode two days after sentencing when he was in between pleas on the bench, since she had only one week to file the Motion, but he did not grant the Motion. When she served the Motion on him, she noted that Judge Goode first bumped fists with her and then said to her, “She said that she only slapped her” and noted that she was very uncomfortable. Ms. Fent. testified that Judge Goode said, “If I grant it, are you going to call the  media?” She responded, “I just want to give you a copy of it.” She noted that there was no indication her motion was going to be granted. (Transcript, pp. 213-215). She stated that she did not know if she went to the courtroom first and then back to her office to fax the motion to Mr. Finney. (Transcript, p. 216). Ms. Fent stated that she has been a prosecutor for 17 years; first in Texas, then in S.C. (Transcript, pp. 224-225). She noted that she had until the end of the week to file the motion to reconsider. (Transcript, p.233). 
Ms. Fent testified that Judge Goode’s testimony was not accurate about their conversation when she approached him on the bench with the Motion seeking a resentencing.
 In answer to questions from the Commission, she insisted the conversation was as she had previously testified, the substance of which is set forth in the preceding paragraph. She stated that she did not hear Judge Goode agree to resentence the defendant but heard his initial statement “She only slapped her,“ to which she responded, “Well, I’m actually here on that case, Judge.”  Ms. Fent noted she then stated, “I’m giving you a copy of the motion to reconsider sentence, and he said, “If I hear it, will you call the media?” and then added “And then I just giving you a copy of the motion, Judge. Thanks.” (Transcript, pp .236-237). 

According to Ms. Fent’s testimony, the next conversation she had regarding this motion was the phone call from Paul Newell stating that the judge wanted to set this for hearing, the next day or next Tuesday. She explained that she would have to talk with the victims first. She reported her only motivation coming forward to testify at today’s hearing was presenting the truth. (Transcript, pp .237-238). 

Ms. Fent indicated that when she approached Judge Goode with the motion two days later, he was running plea court, but this was the only case he was concentrated on at the time. (Transcript, pp. 239-241). She noted the motion was filed timely, after a day of thoughtful consideration. Ms. Fent stated that when the plea hearing finished, which was at the end of the day, the victim’s mother was distraught, and she could not talk with her about the next move. (Transcript, pp. 243-244). 

Judge Goode’s Rebuttal of Ms. Fent’s Rebuttal Testimony
He testified that it was not in his demeanor to respond to an attorney in the manner represented by Ms. Fent regarding the way he acted on December 10, as he is an officer of the court and he tries to treat people with respect. (Transcript, p. 246)
February 19, 2009, letter from James D. Truitt, Clerk of Court Administrator for the Richland County Clerk of Court
Exhibit __ offered for the record is a February 19, 2009, Hand-Delivered Letter from James D. Truitt, Clerk of Court Administrator for the Richland County Clerk of Court, obtained by the Commission’s staff. The letter states: 
“RE: The State of South Carolina v. Talisha Lavette Smith; Indictment No: 2008-GS-40-03151

To Whom It May Concern:

This office has made a diligent search of all the records in our custody and control regarding the above-captioned matter. This office is not in possession of any documents reflecting that the Motion to Reconsider, which was filed on December 10, 2008, had been heard and/or ruled upon.”

Attached to the letter was a certified copy of a Motion to Reconsider Sentence in the above referenced matter signed by Margaret M. Fent, Assistant Solicitor, with a stamp indicating “FILED 2008, December 10 PM 12:57.”

Transcript of Hearing- Judge Goode’s comments prior to sentencing Ms. Smith

Judge Goode stated,
“I have, and any of the people who are in this court on a regular basis can tell you that I have just the deepest respect and appreciation for people like you who give of themselves to try to fix a problem thousands of miles away so that we can sustain our quality of life. Sometimes it can't be done. We found that out in Iraq, Afghanistan, and we've got this beautiful, beautiful little girl harmed for no reason at all.
 My job is to find some way for the individuals involved in this to walk away and everyone feel as if just[ice] has been done.  I don’t think there’s anything in the wide world that I could do that would make you feel that this situation has been fixed.  I don’t think there’s anything that the investigator, anything that I could do that the investigator would feel things had been fixed.  That I had done my job properly.  There are simply no winners, no winners.  You’ve, you’ve already had a terrible loss.  I’m speaking to the victim’s family.  How will it help for this lady to receive punishment?  What, with the legislatively-given power to me, what will that do to fix your situation or your situation or others such as me who’ve been in similar situations?  It is simply a situation that, that can’t be fixed.  Any action that I take, any action I take would not fix this.   This lady’s twenty-six years old.  Never had a parking ticket, and she does something stupid.  It – is there something we can do to keep her from doing something ill advised again?  Nothing that I know of.  I’ve been to school a lot longer.  I’ve been in situation such as this ten years.  Fifteen years of practicing law on top of that.  There’s just nothing that can be done.  I just don’ think it will help to send her to jail, but I do think it will help if she gets counseling.  And mental health counseling, the quality is better outside than inside.” (Exhibit 1, p. 28-29).

Judge Goode ended the hearing stating:

“To the victims, I wish you all the, all the goodness that, that you can feel in your heart, and I hope that your pain eases soon.  And, Ms. Smith, you go to this counseling, and you work to get straightened out.” (Exhibit 1, p. 30).

State v. Zail Ray Gavin
Mr. Gavin has been convicted of multiple offenses in this State over a period of years,
 but the current convictions at issue are for indecent exposure in Richland County in 2007 and also his probation revocation charges. (Exhibit 11). On February 2, 2009, at Mr. Gavin’s probation revocation hearing, Judge Goode ordered a reduction in time on supervision by one year with a new end date of February 6, 2010, and to remove the GPS/EM (electronic monitoring) requirement. Also, it was ordered that Mr. Gavin could have supervised contact with his children as coordinated through probation and supervision conditions. Judge Goode determined that he would retain jurisdiction over this matter. (Exhibit 9, Transcript of Record). At the February 9, 2009 hearing which Judge Good convened sua sponte, he ordered for Mr. Gavin, discretionary GPS for the duration of supervision (Mon-Fri, from 7am-3pm); sex offender counseling and mental health counseling as deemed necessary by probation. He also ordered that probation, as originally ordered on November 8, 2007, end as of February 6, 2011. It was ordered that Gavin not be allowed to visit his parents’ residence in Ninety-Six, SC. Judge Goode then relinquished jurisdiction in the Gavin matter. (Exhibit 10, Transcript of Record).
Judge Goode’s Initial Testimony Regarding the Gavin matter

Judge Goode testified that the first revocation hearing for Gavin took place on February 2, and that he had originally sentenced Mr. Gavin and retained jurisdiction over his offenses. He stated that he recalled that a week later he requested a sua sponte motion to reconsider the probation revocation of Mr. Gavin. (Transcript, p.187).

Judge Goode stated that he felt like he had more latitude in probation than in certain other cases. (Transcript, p. 189).

Barry Judson Crocker’s Testimony (Neighbor of Mr. Gavin’s parents)
Mr. Crocker, who lives in the neighborhood where Mr. Gavin’s mother and stepfather reside in Greenwood, testified and offered an affidavit. (Exhibit 12; Transcript, p. 191).  He explained that he was concerned by Judge Goode’s February 2, 2009, order that lifted some of his probation restrictions, including GPS monitoring, and allowing him to return to the neighborhood where the Crocker’s reside.  Mr. Crocker testified that he felt his family was threatened by the fact that Mr. Gavin was allowed to visit his parents’ house that is in close proximity to the Crocker’s house. (Transcript, p. 191)

Mr. Crocker explained that he was not aware of the February 2, 2009, hearing, but that he testified at the February 9, 2009, hearing expressing his concern with Mr. Gavin being released from monitoring and having his probation term reduced. (Transcript, p. 193)

Amy Elizabeth Hilley’s Testimony (Resident of the Neighborhood where Mr. Gavin’s Parents Reside)
Ms. Hilley, also a resident with young children of the same neighborhood in Greenwood where the Crocker’s and Mr. Gavin’s parents reside, offered her testimony and affidavit (Exhibit13; Transcript, p. 194).  Ms. Hilley admitted that she filed a complaint with the Commission expressing concerns about Judge Goode’s ruling at Mr. Gavin’s probation revocation hearing on February 2, 2009, and attached Mr. Gavin’s listing in the SC sex offender’s registry as well as a search of the Fifth, Eleventh, and Eight Judicial Circuit public records concerning his convictions. (Transcript, p. 195)

Ms. Hilley testified that she did not understand how Gavin could be taken off electronic monitoring and have his probation sentence reduced when he was violating probation. She stated that she called Judge Goode to speak with him about his decision, but she could not get in touch with him for a week. Ms. Hilley noted that she was not at the February 2, 2009, hearing, but she did talk to Ms. Sirmon in Richland County’s probation and parole office. Ms. Hilley explained that she received a phone call about the February 9, 2009, hearing; Judge Goode allowed her to speak at that hearing. Ms. Hilley testified that Judge Goode told her it was not his intent to reduce Gavin’s probation by one year, when, in fact, that is what he had done during the February 2, 2009, hearing. (Transcript, pp. 197-99).

Ingrid Carol Lee’s Testimony (Had a daughter with Mr. Gavin)
Ms. Lee testified and offered an affidavit explaining that she has a daughter, Kaley, with Mr. Gavin, and she is concerned that Gavin has been released from electronic monitoring and allowed to visit his parents. (Exhibit 14; Transcript, p.201). Ms. Lee contended that Mr. Gavin informed her that his attorney had lunch with Judge Goode and told her in the 2005 matter that they had everything worked out and he would not go to prison. Ms. Lee noted that in 2005, she heard Judge Goode state to Mr. Gavin in a Lexington County Courtroom, “If I ever see you in my courtroom again, you will regret it.”  (Transcript, pp. 202-203).
Ms. Lee further testified that Mr. Gavin has been before Judge Goode on at least four subsequent occasions. Ms. Lee reminded the Commission that Mr. Gavin has numerous sexual offenses in multiple states, sex with a minor in Indiana, indecent exposure charge in Greenwood, the charges presently being discussed, and multiple felony drug charges. She stated that felt that Mr. Gavin has been let off time and time again. (Transcript, p. 205).

Ms. Lee reported that she was in attendance at the hearing in December in Richland County for the four probation violations. She explained that court was scheduled to begin at 9 a.m., but that Judge Goode did not take the bench until 10:30 a.m. Ms. Lee testified that Judge Goode’s behavior was very odd, that he seemed to be confused, and that he had to repeat things to himself. She stated that she also observed that others in the courtroom appeared to be wondering what was going on because Judge Goode seemed so out of it. Ms. Lee indicated that Judge Goode did not get to the Gavin hearing that day, so it was rescheduled for February 2, 2009. (Transcript, pp. 205-206)

Ms. Lee testified that on February 2, 2009, she was in attendance and observed Judge Goode tell Agent Sirmon, Richland County probation and parole, that if there were any ways to sanction her for bring this case, he would. Ms. Lee expressed that she was concerned that Mr. Gavin received no repercussions at the February 9, 2009, hearing; the only thing done was the restrictions taken away on February 2, 2009 were simply put back into place. (Transcript, p. 207).

Ms. Lee was asked to clarify what she had testified to about Judge Goode having lunch with Mr. Gavin’s attorney to “work out everything.” Ms. Lee testified that she had spoken with Gavin the day before he was to go to court, and he was bragging that his attorney was good friends with Judge Goode. (Transcript, pp. 209-210). She explained that she had a brief relationship with Mr. Gavin in 2002 but they were not married. (Transcript, p. 213).
Heath Taylor’s Testimony (Attorney who represented Mr. Gavin on the 2005 charges in Lexington County)
Mr. Taylor testified as well as offered an affidavit stating that he was retained to represent Mr. Gavin in July 2005. (Exhibit 15; Transcript, pp. 247-248). He explained that Mr. Gavin had quite a significant record from his past, including probation following a plea in Greenwood County before Judge Hughston for Peeping Tom, possession of crack, and burglary. He noted that Mr. Gavin had a concurrent two-year active sentence on each charge with five-years probation upon his release, and as a result of the Peeping Tom charge, he was required to register as a sex offender. (Transcript, p. 248).
According to Mr. Taylor, Mr. Gavin came to him with a charge for Peeping Tom and two charges of failure to register as a sex offender. Mr. Taylor testified that this was bad case for the state because the Peeping Tom charge was Mr. Gavin simply standing in a front yard looking in the bay window, and his failure to register was because he had been sleeping at his home while doing renovations but failed to notify the sheriff’s department within 10 days of the move. (Transcript, p. 250).
He explained that on February 14, 2006, Mr. Gavin presented his plea to Judge Goode under the North Carolina doctrine, meaning Mr. Gavin admitted the state has sufficient evidence to convict, but he was not actually admitting guilt. Mr. Taylor stated that Judge Goode sentenced Mr. Gavin to the mandatory 90 days for failure to register, and he gave him three years suspended on the service of 90 days, and an additional four years of probation on the Peeping Tom charges. (Transcript, pp. 250-53).

Mr. Taylor noted that from a criminal standpoint, Mr. Gavin had turned his life around and was on the right track by February 14, 2006. Mr. Taylor also noted that Mr. Gavin had been reviewed by two doctors and a guardian as litem who all concurred with the fact that Mr. Gavin could appropriately be around children. He stated that the probation agent recommended a 90-day revocation, and Judge Goode gave Mr. Gavin 90 days to be served on weekends so he could still work and see his children. Mr. Taylor testified that one would be hard pressed to find a judge who would put Mr. Gavin in jail under these circumstances. Mr. Taylor suggested that there was nothing out of line here. (Transcript, pp. 255-58).

Mr. Taylor denied the allegation that he hunted, fished, and was social friends with Judge Goode. He explained that the only thing he possibly told Mr. Gavin relating to Judge Goode was that the solicitors called his case before Judge Goode and that was his best chance for getting a good sentence, because it is no secret that Judge Goode is not the harshest sentencer. Mr. Taylor mentioned that his mother is from Winnsboro, as is Judge Goode, but that the two of them certainly do not hunt or fish together. Mr. Taylor explained that the only time he went to lunch with Judge Goode was at the Trial Lawyers convention when the whole judiciary was there. Mr. Taylor testified that there had been no ex parte communication with Judge Goode about this case or any other case. (Transcript, pp. 258-59).

Mr. Taylor concluded by stating that essentially we are “Monday morning quarterbacking” Judge Goode’s decision in this case. When questioned about Judge Goode’s decision to retain jurisdiction over Mr. Gavin’s criminal case, Mr. Taylor admitted that this does not happen frequently, but he thought Judge Goode did so because he saw that Gavin was trying to rehabilitate himself. He noted that Mr. Gavin had been drug and alcohol free, which was the root of his problem for four years, and Judge Goode is a compassionate person. (Transcript, pp. 260-65).
Jack Swerling’s Testimony (Attorney who Represented Mr. Gavin through the February 9 Hearing)
Mr. Swerling testified that he represented  Mr. Gavin through the February 9 hearing although nothing is pending now and offered his affidavit. (Exhibit 19; Transcript p. 267).  Mr. Swerling explained that he was first contacted about Mr. Gavin in late July when Mr. Gavin was arrested for indecent exposure, but the elements of the offense were not met, so Mr. Swerling filed to expunge those records. Mr. Swerling stated that the record was expunged on October 15, 2008, but that the probation office still wrote up Mr. Gavin for a violation, one of the violations brought up at the February 2, 2009, hearing. He noted that attorney Jake Moore, Jr., represented Mr. Gavin at the May 28, 2008 hearing for some probation revocation violations and Judge Goode heard that case. (Transcript, pp. 267- 268).
Mr. Swerling also explained his concern with the GPS monitoring violations. He testified that Gavin’s prior violations were very brief, none over 30 minutes, all of which had logical, non criminal explanations.  Mr. Swerling testified that he agreed with Judge Goode’s decision that the GPS monitoring violations did not warrant a probation revocation. Nevertheless, Mr. Swerling explained that Judge Goode told Mr. Gavin at his hearing on May 27, 2008, “I find your history and your offenses to be extraordinarily offensive. I don’t want you to think that the fact that I’m allowing you to stay on probation diminishes my feelings.” (Exhibit 16, Transcript, pp. 269-271).
Mr. Swerling noted that later in the May 28, 2008 hearing, Judge Goode told the probation officer, “I don’t want you to tighten them [restrictions] any more. . . . If you feel like there’s a reason for there to be additional restrictions placed on the man, I direct you as the supervisor  . . . to run them past me and explain to me why.” (Transcript, pp. 269-73).

Mr. Swerling explained that Gavin’s four violations as discussed at the February 2, 2009, hearing were also very minor. He noted that Mr. Gavin was only off the GPS monitoring for short periods of time, and the probation violation occurred when his common law wife, Ms. McCravy, brought their toddler-age son to visit and she briefly ran out to the store. Mr. Swerling stated that at that moment, the probation officer showed up and arrested him because he was alone with his son, the same son he was permitted to live with in Lexington County. (Transcript, p. 274). Mr. Swerling reported that Richland County probation has not allowed Mr. Gavin to see his son or daughter in over two and half years, even though there is nothing in the family court that says he cannot. (Transcript, pp. 275-276).
As for the Greenwood County violation, Mr. Swerling explained that the people who were victims in 1999 are no longer victims because Mr. Gavin has served his sentence for that offense. Mr. Swerling stated that he does not think Mr. Gavin should be prevented from visiting his elderly parents. (Transcript, pp. 275-78).

Mr. Swerling testified that he had the idea of asking the judge to modify Mr. Gavin’s probation at the February 2, 2009, hearing because Gavin had totally been isolated from all of his support mechanisms. (Transcript, p. 278).
Mr. Swerling also explained that Ms. Sirmon (Mr. Gavin’s probation officer) purposefully did not return his phone calls and letter informing her that he had a murder trial the same day as the hearing and needed to reschedule the probation revocation hearing. He noted that he was also angry with her because she brought up part of Mr. Gavin’s record that had been expunged. Mr. Swerling testified that Judge Goode was angry with her about bringing up the expunged record as well. Mr. Swerling testified that he believed that Judge Goode kept jurisdiction of this case because he wanted to help Gavin get on the right path. Mr. Swerling  also testified that South Carolina’s way of selecting judges is the best, which results in a strong judiciary, of which Judge Goode is among the finest. (Transcript, pp. 280-84).

Mr. Swerling explained that Mr. Gavin called him to say he wanted to get help, and that he had found a program in N.C. called Fellowship Hall. Mr. Swerling testified that he prepared an order that he was planning on giving to Judge Goode asking if Mr. Gavin’s electronic monitoring could be suspended for 60 days so he could get treatment in N.C., but Mr. Swerling first called Ms. Sirmon to explain that Mr. Gavin was willing to go get treatment at his own expense. Mr. Swerling testified that Ms. Sirmon told him that was not possible because Mr. Gavin was on GPS monitoring and that she would find a treatment program for him in S.C. (Transcript, pp. 291-293).
Mr. Swerling testified that he believed that Judge Goode did the right thing for Mr. Gavin, even though it was unpopular to the outside observer. Mr. Swerling stated that he did not agree with Judge Goode going back and resentencing on February 9, 2009. (Transcript, pp. 293- 294).

Mr. Swerling noted, based on his 36 years experience as a criminal attorney, the procedure used when filing a motion to reconsider sentence. Mr. Swerling specifically stated that in criminal court it is rare to file such a motion, but when you do, there is a rule that after a verdict, you have ten days (as opposed to 30 in civil court) in which to file your motions. When you file a post-trial motion, everything stops; for example, the time to appeal does not start running until the hearing occurs on the post-trial motion. (Transcript, pp. 295-296).
Mr. Swerling explained that it is his understanding that there has to be something entered on the sentencing sheet to indicate the matter was heard and on what date, but it is not necessary for an order granting a motion to rehear to be issued. (Transcript, pp. 296-301). He noted that a motion for reconsideration or  motion for resentencing are all the same things; just using different terms. (Transcript, p. 298). He further explained that there is no order necessarily granting a motion to reconsider and the actual motion is the filing of the motion to reconsider and then the hearing is held with an order issued from that. (Transcript, p. 302)
Mr. Swerling clarified that for the Greenwood conviction, on April 12, 2001, it was his understanding that Mr. Gavin’s supervision had been terminated some time ago. (Transcript, pp. 310, 314).
Ms. Stacy Crocker’s Rebuttal Testimony
Ms. Crocker testified that Mr. Gavin’s Greenwood conviction for Peeping Tom occurred in 2001 not 1999. She noted that the circumstances involved Mr. Gavin standing in his underwear during January in front of their six-year old daughter’s window. Ms. Crocker explained her concern is that his parents’ home is 100 yards from her home, and he has a long history of sexual offenses. (Transcript, pp. 311-312). 

According to Ms. Crocker, probation gave the neighbors pagers for his electronic monitoring in August, and he has had five violations. She explained that her daughter is afraid to stay at their home alone, and his parents have two other grown sons who can help them, rather than Mr. Gavin. (Transcript, p. 213).
Judge Goode’s Response

He denied that he ever had lunch with Mr. Taylor according to Ms. Lee’s testimony. He noted that he retained jurisdiction in the Gavin matter because he tries to do justice. He testified that he called the hearing on the Gavin matter on February 9, in less than a week after the previous hearing as he does go home and study what he has done, how it has impacted individuals in a case. (Transcript, pp. 315-316). Judge Goode stated that he was pointed with agent Sirmon as she was about to introduce something that was not appropriate. He testified that on his own motion he called the February 9 hearing and imposed more restrictions on Mr. Gavin, such as tighter GPS monitoring. Judge Goode stated that he relinquished jurisdiction as some of his methods were not doing their job.(Transcript, pp. 317-318).

Dr. Roger A. Gaddy (Judge Goode’s Physician)

Dr. Gaddy provided an affidavit and testified that he has known Judge Goode for 30 years and treated him for 15 years, since he came to Winnsboro to practice medicine. He testified that in mid-December 2008, he evaluated Judge Goode because of fatigability, lethargy, and weakness. (Exhibit 22; Transcript, p. 325). Dr. Gaddy stated that in December 2008, he treated Dr. Goode and, during the course of his evaluation, he discovered that Judge Goode’s blood sugar was markedly elevated, and he was started on appropriate treatment. He also noted that he ran other tests such as brain scans and a cardiac evaluation, which found no other abnormalities indicated. 
He explained that since mid-December with the appropriate medication and dietary regimen, Judge Goode’s blood sugars are under excellent control, and his previously mentioned symptoms have completely resolved. (Exhibit 22; Transcript, p. 326).  Dr. Gaddy noted that Judge Goode’s genetic factors for a high sugar run in his family. (Transcript, p. 327). 
Judge Goode’s Closing Testimony

Judge Goode clarified that he was trying to testify that the Smith case was an appropriate case for review after the Motion for Reconsideration is heard. (Transcript, pp. 331-332). He stated that he would be happy to assign this Motion to someone else if the parents, the solicitor, or anyone else would be more comfortable with another judge, but he did not think that he has heard or seen anything that would keep him from being fair or impartial. (Transcript, p. 332). 

Judge Goode testified that even with over 49 affidavits submitted in support of his candidacy, many of which are from criminal defense attorneys, as well as a Resolution on his behalf from the Lancaster County Bar, he is still able to be impartial and not accord any favoritism to any attorneys who submitted affidavits on his behalf. He noted that he could still act impartially toward any lawyers/legislators who appear before him if re-elected to the Circuit Court. (Transcript, pp. 333-334).  

Specifically, Judge Goode stated as reflected in the transcript of the record of the Feb. 2nd Gavin proceeding:
”But what we want to do we want you to be zealous, but overall is we want to design a program that will ultimately lead to rehabilitation, and if there are too many restrictions, that can sometimes be a formula for failure, and I think that is what we became faced within this situation.  So As I indicated or started to I am reducing his probation one year.  I am removing the requirement of electronic monitoring, you will have to – before you visit with your children it will have to be coordinated but your schedule is going to be a lot more flexible now and that won’t be as much of a problem for you as it might have been in the past.  The other restrictions as I remember them—I don’t have the--“ (Exhibit 9, p. 21).

Then he states:
“But you know that even though you don’t have an anklet on on—and I want you to understand that I am going out on a limb for you.  If it is something that needs to be communicated they will either tell you to communicate it or they will communicate it.  And I wish you good luck.”

(Exhibit 9, p. 28).

At the February 9 hearing, Judge Goode stated:
“This is a sua sponte motion.  That’s Latin for—I called it myself.  It’s not by the defendant or by the State, but after hearing last week’s case, I made some comments – or during the hearing of the case of what could, couldn’t, and could not be considered in a probation revocation matter.  It bothered me to the extent that I pulled the cases and read them, and there no question, in my eyes, that the courts, the appellate courts, and this seems to be a trend, are allowing this to be considered at a hearing that at one time might not have been appropriate to be heard.  As a result of that, I cut into Mr. Sirmon’s presentation,  made sure that matters fell into category were removed, and proceeded with the hearing.  I find that that was error on my part.  I’m human.  I make errors, and I hope I’m always man enough and wise enough to recognize them and correct them.  So I’m going to reconsider the actions that I took last week.  I’m not certain what day it was that I heard this case.” (Exhibit 10, pp. 2-3).

Judge Goode then ruled:

“Well, I think the ruling of the Court, of course, is that he remain on supervised probation; that he be electronically monitored under the terms and conditions formerly in place with the exception that additionally he receive sex offender and mental health counseling of the Department deems that appropriate.” (Exhibit 10, p. 16).
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�.  In State v. Talisha Lavette Smith, on December 8, 2008, in Richland County, Judge Goode heard the guilty plea and sentencing of day care operator Ms. Smith for “Infliction of Great Bodily Injury Upon a Child, infant Kendra Gaddie. The Gavin matter involved the continuing jurisdiction of Judge Goode over the 2007 Richland County case of State v Zail Ray Gavin for Indecent Exposure and more particularly Judge Goode’s ruling at the February 2, 2009 probation revocation hearing for Gavin.





�  Section 16-3-95 (C) defines “great bodily injury” as “bodily injury which creates a substantial risk of death or which causes serious or permanent disfigurement, or protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ.”


� Ms. Gaddie stated, at the close of her statement, to Judge Goode at the sentencing hearing, “I humbly ask that the court to allow a clear message to be sent: that crimes against our children in this society will no longer be condoned or tolerated. I ask that the maximum sentence allowed by law be instituted.” (Exhibit1, pp. 22-23).


� "Commission member Clemmons opined that there was a material conflict between the testimony of Judge Goode and Solicitor Fent regarding Judge Goode's handling of the Motion to Reconsider the Sentence."





� This appears to be the comment that offended the Gaddies at the sentencing hearing.


� The Probation Report for Mr. Gavin dated Dec. 11, 2008 indicated that he had the following convictions and is a registered sex offender:


11/8/07 - Indecent Exposure (times 3)- convicted;


2/14/06 - Sex Offender Registry Violation, 1st- - convicted;


2/14/06 - Peeping Voyeurism, Aggravated Voyeurism, and Failure to Register- convicted; 


4/27/04- Criminal Trespass and Indecent Exposure- Convicted;


4/27/04- Indecent Exposure and Criminal Trespass- Convicted;


4/12/01 - Peeping, Voyeurism, Aggravated Voyeurism, and Burglary 3rd Degree- convicted;


1/18/00 - Sexual Misconduct with Minor, Class D- convicted;


3/25/96 - Indecent Exposure and Disturbing Schools; Disturbing Schools- convicted.


(Exhibit 18).


� Four sentence sheets and two reorders were offered as Exhibit 11. Specifically, the 2005 sentence in Lexington County where Mr. Gavin pled to Peeping Tom; the sentence sheet in Richland County for Mr. Gavin where he pled to indecent exposure; three Orders signed by Judge Goode on May 21, 2008, in Richland County for indecent exposure; the February 2, 2009, order on the probation revocation hearing; and the second order on February 9, 2009, when Judge Goode reconsidered the February 2 probation revocation.  (Transcript, p. 188).
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